FILED DEBBIE CAUSSEAUX

SEP 20 1999

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CARLTON FRANCIS	1		CLERK, SUPREME COUR
CANDION FRANCIS)		<i>U</i>)
Appellant,	,)		
)	CASE NO.: 94	,385
vs.)		
)		
STATE OF FLORIDA)		
)		
Appellee.)		
)		
)	1 1	
	Uman	dod.	

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit,
In and For Palm Beach County, Florida
[Criminal Division]

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

PETER GRABLE, ESQUIRE 804 North Olive Avenue, 1ST Floor West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (561) 655-1292 Florida Bar No. 330493

Counsel for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

will be used:

The symbol "R" will denote the Record on Appeal.

The symbol "T" will denote the Transcript of Trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 25, 1997, Appellant, Francis, was charged by indictment with premeditated murder of Claire Brunt, premeditated murder of Bernice Flegel, robbery with a deadly weapon (Brunt), robbery with a deadly weapon (Flegel), burglary with assault or battery (Brunt and/or Flegel), aggravated battery on a person sixty-five (65) years or older (Brunt), aggravated battery on a person sixty-five (65) years or older (Flegel), and grand theft of a motor vehicle. (R 10-14).

Jury selection began on July 20, 1998. (R 361). At the close of the State's case, and at the close of all of the evidence, Appellant moved for judgements of acquittal (R 1747). Appellant's motions were denied (R 1753). Appellant rested without presenting evidence (R 1760). Appellant renewed his motions for acquittal (R 1761). The trial court denied renewed motions (R 1762). Appellant was found guilty as to all counts. (R 2012-2013). The juries' recommendation was 8/4 for the death penalty (T 2303).

On October 23, 1998, the trial court sentenced Appellant to

death for the murder convictions. (R 2351). Appellant was sentenced to five (5) years at the Department of Corrections, court costs of \$261.00 and an assessment of \$190.00 public defender fees for the grand theft auto. (T 2340) As to Counts V and VI, aggravated battery, the court vacated those judgements as covered by the murder convictions (T 2341) and the court withheld judgements as to counts VI and VII and imposed no sentence. (T 2341). As to Counts III, IV and V, to wit, burglary with an assault and two counts of robbery with a deadly weapon, the court sentenced Mr. Francis to an upward departure of life in the Department of Corrections.

On October 23, 1998 the trial court filed its sentencing order (R 1316-1320). A timely Notice of Appeal was filed. (R 1341).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS - GUILT PHASE

This case involves an alleged murder of two sixty-six year old twin sisters, Claire Brunt and Bernice Flegel. Appellant allegedly stabbed both sisters to death during the robbery of their home located at 2000 Ware Drive, West Palm Beach, Florida. The incidents occurred on July 24, 1997. The defense contested the facts of the case as well as introducing evidence of mental illness and drug impairment.

Susan Wood testified that she was the daughter of Claire Brunt, and that Ms. Brunt was sixty-six years old at the time of her death. (T 877) Bernice Flegel was the twin sister of Claire

Susan Woods spoke with her mother between 11:00 and 12:00 Brunt. and had made plans to stop and see her between 3:00 and 4:00. two women lived alone, and were friendly with Eleanor Goods, who lived in the home next door with two children and a grown son. (T 880-883). Mrs. Woods' mother and Eleanor Goods were good friends (T 881). Mrs. Wood testified that the two victims shared a Grand Prix automobile, tan with maroon interior. Although the car was titled in Mrs. Woods' aunt's name her mother would be the one who drove. (T 884). Both women were in basically good health and mentally alert (T 886-887). Mrs. Woods arrived in order to visit her mother between 3:00 and 4:00 in the afternoon. approaching the house she noticed that the door was not closed completely. She pushed the door opened and discovered her mother laying back in her chair, her arm extended. She passed her and turned to speak with her mother and noticed that her necklace was tight around her neck and that there was blood on her neck. She realized that her mother was not breathing and went to call 911 for help. At that time, she noticed her aunt face down in the kitchen with an enormous amount of blood around her body. (T 889-891). She did not touch anything other than her mother's neck when she went to fix her necklace. (T 892).

Mrs. Woods could not give an accurate description of any items that were taken other than to say that no large items were taken (T 896).

Officer Paul Matthews testified that he arrived upon the scene at around 4:03 p.m. (T 901). When he arrived on the scene Officer Goya and members of the West Palm Beach Firemedics were there along with Mrs. Woods. (T 902). He checked the entire house for signs of forced entry and found none. (T 910). He was in the house for approximately 45 minutes and while he was there prevented any non-police personnel from entering the home. Matthews testified that all police officers were careful not to step in the blood and did not leave footprints to the best of his knowledge (T 915).

Rysean Goods was a nine year old grandson of Eleanor Goods, who lived with his grandmother, Francis, an elderly aunt, and a fifteen year old cousin. (T 919 - 925). Rysean considered himself to be Francis' good friend. On the morning of the murders Rysean and Guy had been playing in their swimming pool. Rysean stated that he saw his uncle with a tall green bag, which he was carrying by the strap. (T 933). Rysean saw what he thought was a pipe sticking out of the bag about a foot (T 934). His Uncle told him that he was leaving and going to play basketball. Rysean did not leave. (T 935). Rysean's grandmother came home to see Francis check on him at lunch time (T 936). Shortly before his grandmother come home he saw Beatrice Flegel exit her house and get a newspaper. (T 938). While he was in front of the house he saw his uncle Francis leave. His uncle was wearing a white t-shirt with blue shorts. He saw his uncle exit the front door of the Goods house carrying the same green bag (T 943). Rysean noticed a dark red spot on the white t-shirt. He was not sure what it was. (T. 944). His uncle called him later that night, and asked him if he had seen what was inside the bag. Rysean responded "no" because he had not seen what was in the bag (T 952). Later that evening, Rysean saw his uncle arrive in a cab. When he got home he was wearing a black and blue Orlando Magic t-shirt. (T 958).

Upon cross examination Rysean testified that his grandmother kept pipes in the back yard for a shade tent. (T 965). Rysean was sure that he saw Ms. Flegel come out the front door to get a newspaper just two minutes before Francis left the second time. (T 967). When Rysean was interviewed by the detectives he never mentioned the spot on Francis' shirt. (T 969). The first time this was mentioned was to the State Attorney in New York a week before trial. (T 970).

Bruce Brown contacted the police department at the request of CJ (Charles Hicks). (T 986). Brown is a three or four time convicted felon. (T 988). He met Francis through CJ. (T 989). CJ had told Brown that Francis wanted to buy an assault weapon with ammunition for a negotiated price of \$250.00 to \$350.00. (T 991-992) He attempted to deliver the weapon to Francis, he saw Francis being arrested and left. (T 993-994). Brown did not give a statement to Detective Wills until eight months after the murders. (T 999)

Rashad Denson, a twenty-one year old native of West Palm Beach. (T 1007). Mr. Denson is the nephew of Charles Hicks. (T 1008). Although he was not sure of the time frame, Denson testified that he remembered Francis walking up to him two or three times in the area of Tenth and Douglass. (T 1010). On these occasions, Francis allegedly tried to purchase a fire arm from Mr. Denson. Mr. Denson admitted that it was his uncle, Charles Hicks, who got him to go to the police. Mr. Hicks had told him of the \$1,000.00 reward (T 1012 - 1013).

Mr. George Dean testified that he knew Francis from the flea market over by North Shore Drive. (T 1016). Mr. Dean had seen Francis at a restaurant at Tamarind and Tenth called Folia's. That restaurant opened at 6:00 p.m. (T 1018). Prior to their meeting he had not seen Francis for approximately five years. He learned of Francis's arrest on TV. (T 1019-1020). The meeting at the restaurant was the day before the crime scene went up around Mr. Hick's home. (T 1021). He testified that the Francis asked him if he wanted to buy a necklace. Francis showed him an old fashion gold chain with a heart-shaped locket (T 1024). Dean further stated that he did not give this information to the police until approximately eight months after the incident. His statement was given at the same time as Mr. Browns'. Dean also admitted that during his deposition he had stated that Francis had attempted to sell him the necklace on the night that Francis was arrested.

Dean remembers this transaction occurred at around 7:30 p.m. (T 1037).

Sally Holloway is the common law wife of Charles Hicks. Holloway testified that she had seen Francis on one occasion before the murders. (T 1049). Sally first saw Francis and her husband together on July 24, when they walked into the house. (T 1050). When they came in Francis and Hicks went to the back of the house near the kitchen for approximately thirty (30) minutes. (T 1053). Charlie left the house leaving Francis and Sally behind. that period, Sally said that the two of them saw a news report of the murder on the TV and that Francis did not react to the news of the murders in any way. (T 1055 - 1056). Later on that evening, Sally saw Francis and Hicks near a wheelbarrow. There was a fire in the wheelbarrow, although Sally was unable to identify what was (T 1059 - 1060). Sally does not know who started being burned. the fire or how it was put out. (T 1060 - 1061). Later Charlie showed her some coins and a couple of watches, and a necklace. 1062). Sally does not know where Charlie obtained these items. 1062). Over the next several days, Francis came back and reclaimed the items from Charlie. Charlie had given a necklace to Sally but took it away explaining that Francis insisted on getting the necklace back. Sally described the necklace as a gold necklace with a cross at the end. (T 1067). Francis began to stay in an abandoned shack next to Charlie and Sally's house, and he would come over and beg for food from Sally. (T 1070). Upon cross examination Sally admitted that she didn't know that Charlie was a drug user or that he sold drugs, or that he owned any weapons or ammunition. (T 1074 -1075). Sally was unable to remember the day of the week or month when the murders occurred, or when Francis was at her house. All that she could remember was that it occurred during the summer time. (T 1080 - 1082). She was unable to give the location of the murders, and admitted that she had no conversation with Francis. (T 1082). Sally could not describe the clothes that Francis wore and she does not remember anything unusual about those clothes. (T 1083). Sally could not give the exact time of the news flash but remembers distinctly that it was during the time that she watched her favorite soap operas and that had to be between 1:00 and 4:00 in the afternoon. (T 1085).

In August of 1997, Sally gave a statement to Detective Key. During that statement she told Key that Francis left immediately after the news flash and that she didn't see him again that day.

When Sally gave her deposition in March of 1998, she indicated that after the fire Hicks and Francis re-entered the house after she had seen them at the fire, and went in the back room for several hours. (T 1100). Sally offered another version in her deposition in which she stated that Francis and Hicks left the house together and did not return. (T 1103). Sally's testimony established that Charlie wore size 8 ½ shoes and that he owned

Nikes. (T 1106-1107). Although, Sally testified in direct that she could establish that Charlie never left the house on the day of the murders she did not know Charlie's whereabouts in particular, but only that he was "in" the neighborhood and gone no longer than fifteen (15) or twenty (20) minutes as was his custom. (T 1108). In fact she is not sure whether Charlie had lunch at home or left the house in order to pick up a hamburger. (T 1109). Sally admitted that when she contacted the police she asked about a reward because she heard that they were "offering a thousand dollars." (T 1119 - 1120).

Charles Hicks is a thirty-nine (39) year old drug dealer. (T 1122 - 1127). He met Francis sometime in the summer of 1996 when he assisted Francis change a tire. He came to know him better over the next year during which he sold heroin to Francis approximately ten (10) times. (T 1129). He went on to testify that on July 24, 1997, he saw Francis drive a brown Grand Prix, beige and brown two-tone and park it in the alley between the church and the back of Charlie's home. (T 1133). He estimates that this was approximately 3:40 in the afternoon. He saw Francis exit the car with a duffel bag, wearing black and white tennis shoes and a maroon shirt. (T 1134). He states that Francis came to his house, knocked on the door and asked for gas and a wheelbarrow. (T 1135). Hicks remembers Francis coming in the house, but he does not testify that they went into the back room. (T 1138). Charlie testified that a

heroin customer by the name Jim Lagrottera came by and Charlie and Jim left to do an errand. (T 1138). Charlie testified that he had answered a call from Jim and came outside to discover that Francis had started a fire in a wheelbarrow. (T 1141). Charlie stirred the fire to see what was burning and discovered the charred remnants of a white pocketbook. (T 1141). He could not distinguish any other items but felt that perhaps a lot of things had been burned. (T 1142). He then testified that he left the house with Jim in order to get drugs (Percosets) for Jim. 1143). He was gone for approximately twenty (20) minutes and when he returned Francis was still there but the wheelbarrow had been (T 1144). The contents had been dumped in a trash pile on Ninth Street, Hicks identified a photograph of that trash pile. (T Charlie remembered seeing Francis with a set of car keys which Francis left on the porch of the abandoned house. (T 1150). Charles also testified that Francis asked him to move the car, and he refused. (T 1151). He saw Francis move the car but he did not know. (T 1152). Francis stayed around the house that night and the next couple of days. He frequently asked Charlie for drugs. (T 1153 - 1154). Francis asked for permission to sleep in the abandoned shack. (T 1155). Charlie's landlord kept a lot of tools and miscellaneous furniture in that shack. Hicks testified that he kept clothes, a couple of old rifles, and tools in the shack. lock was on the door. (T 1155 - 1156).

Hicks said that Francis gave him some old coins, two watches, one with engravement (sic). (T 1156). He testified that Francis asked him to pawn the watch for him but he refused (T 1156). Francis also attempted to trade the jewelry for Hicks' AK 47 assault rifle, which Hicks kept hidden under his home. (T 1157). Hicks kept possession of the watches and coins until he turned them over to the police. (T 1160 - 1161).

Hicks remembered seeing Mr. Francis with a black radio with grey tape around it. Francis asked Hicks to sell the radio but it was too old and damaged. (T 1163). Hicks testified that he saw Francis throw this radio under a house up on Eighth Street. 1164). He later showed the police where they could recover the radio. (T 1165). After a couple of weeks, Hicks decided to report this information to the police, and he turned over the coins and watches to them. (T 1172 - 1177). The police also recovered an old .22 caliber rifle that had belonged to Hicks for some time. The rifle had large rust spots in it. Hicks had only shot it once because he was scared that it was unsafe. (T 1182). He had kept the rifle along with some ammunition in the abandoned shack. police recovered the rifle between the abandoned shack and a daycare center near Hicks' home where Hicks had said he had seen Francis bury the rifle. (T 1183). Before he went to the police he took his assault rifle from beneath his porch and moved it so that the police would not find it. (T 1187).

Hicks admitted that he was a twice convicted felon and that he used marijuana. (T 1200 - 1201). Hicks has been smoking marijuana since he was thirteen (13) years old, mainly on the weekends. (T 1201). Hicks sold heroin from the corner of Tenth and Douglas. During the previous year he had sold heroin to Francis between six or ten times. (T 1208 - 1211). Due to Sally's illness he had slowed up and had not seen Francis for perhaps six months before July 24, 1997. (T 1211). He had just moved into 814 9th Street in June of 1997, one month before the murders. (T 1211). Hicks testified that he had the rifle before he moved and that he had moved it with him to the new address. (T 1213). He also admits that it was therefore necessary for him have handled that rifle within four (4) months of the shooting. (T 1212).

Hicks contradicts himself concerning where he was when he saw Francis with the Grand Prix. In deposition he indicated that he was standing at the kitchen window and under direct testimony he testified that he was sitting in his living room looking out the back window. (T 1216). Charlie Hicks was adamant in his description of the color of the car as two toned, brown over beige. (T 1216).

Hicks could not remember whether Francis entered his home that first day, however he is absolutely positive that he did not enter the back room with Francis for any length of time, not twenty minutes, not two hours. (T 1223).

Hicks cannot recall where he was when Jim Lagrotteria arrived. At one point he says that he was in the house and at another point he says that he was watching TV. Mr. Hicks admits that he never told the police that Lagrotteria was a witness to the wheelbarrow fire. (T 1250 - 1252).

Hicks remembered that there was twenty-three dollars in the white pocket book and that Francis gave him ten dollars to purchase heroin. Francis kept the rest. Hicks was unable to pinpoint exactly when the watches and rings were shown to him. He cannot be sure if they were even shown on the same day. (T 1253). He also cannot remember when he acquired the coins. (T 1255).

Hicks contends that he did not know about the thousand dollar reward until "about the same day after the day I turned him in." (T 1267). He admitted that he knew about the thousand dollar reward when he gave his taped statement on August $4^{\rm th}$. (T 1268). Hicks also admitted that due to his relationship with Jimbo as his drug dealer he could get him to do just about anything that he wanted. (T 1268 - 1269). Charles Hicks' foot size is size 8 and he has owned Nike tennis shoes. (T 1270 - 1271).

Officer Anthony Ellis located a rifle and .22 bullets and a baseball cap between Hicks' house and a daycare center. (T 1305). Charles Hicks never told Officer Ellis that he owned the rifle and ammunition. (T 1305).

Donald Guevremont, the crime scene investigator was assigned

to document, locate, package and photograph all evidence. 1311). On July 24, 1997, he arrived at the scene at 4:30 in the afternoon. (T 1311). Mr. Guevremont was unable to find any useful evidence in the front yard at the front door. (T 1316). entered he located a fired .22 casing from the floor to the left of the front door. (T 1319). There was no evidence that the .22 shell was fired in the home. (T 1320). A black handled knife was taken from a small table. (T 1320). Blood droplets led from that table to a wicker wood stool, where another knife similar to the first was found. (T 1321). A third knife was found on the kitchen counter. (T 1321). Several bloody footprints were found in the living room and kitchen area. (T 1321). One of the footprints was on a newspaper on the floor. (T 1326). The blood was swabbed and samples were sent to the local crime scene for testing. footprints were sent to the FBI. (T 1329 - 1330). No fingerprints were found on any of the knives. (T 1331). A small box was found in the bedroom, which had been opened, it was tested for fingerprints and no fingerprints were recovered. (T 1333). Mr. Guevremont also photographed the automobile and processed the inside for fingerprints. No fingerprints were recovered. Inside the automobile a plum was recovered, and photographed and taken into evidence. The plum had no fingerprints. (T 1355). A small box was found inside the large metal box and inside that small box a small ring was recovered with an initial K engraved on it. (T 1340 - 1341). The shoes that Ms. Brunt and Ms. Flegel were wearing were submitted to the FBI. (T 1350 - 1351). Mr. Guevremont also measured Francis feet and found them to be a size 11. (T 1353). Mr. Guevremont confirmed that he could find no signs of forced entry. (T 1353). The windows and sliding doors were unlocked. (T 1354). No useful fingerprints or hair evidence was recovered from the crime scene. (T 1356). Cash was found in the house in a small ceramic bowl in the living room and one hundred dollars was found in a vase in spare bedroom. (T 1357 - 1358). A small purse containing thirty-two dollars was recovered from the kitchen floor. (T 1358).

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