IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CARLTON FRANCIS,

Appellant,

v. CASE NO. 94,385

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee. /

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF
THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND
FOR PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA
(CRIMINAL DIVISION)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 291692

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01 THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

the jury's verdict, <u>Cochran v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, the evidence is sufficient to support a finding of guilt on all counts.²⁷

ISSUE VII

THE HAC AGGRAVATOR IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL ON ITS FACE OR AS APPLIED IN THIS CASE

Francis contends that the HAC aggravator is unconstitutional in several respects. He does not cite to any portion of the record in which this issue was raised at trial. However, an examination of the record shows that Francis, through counsel, filed a pretrial motion to declare this aggravator and the standard jury instruction unconstitutional on the ground that both the aggravator and the instruction are unconstitutionally vague and overbroad, do not provide an adequate narrowing of the class of persons to whom the aggravator can be applied, and do not give adequate guidance to the jury or to the judge (3R 327-41). Although filing this boilerplate motion, which was denied without further argument (11R 305), defense counsel never objected to the HAC jury instruction; on the contrary, in an exceptionally brief charge conference, the prosecutor and defense counsel announced that they had agreed to a

²⁷ In <u>Miller v. State</u>, case no. 93,792, pending in this Court, the State has argued that no special standard for review of circumstantial evidence is necessary and that this Court should adopt the rational-trier-of-fact standard of appellate review for sufficiency of the evidence announced in <u>Jackson v. Virginia</u>, 443 U.S. 307, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979), as all federal courts and the overwhelming majority of states have done. The State will not re-argue this issue here, but would contend that the evidence in this case meets the <u>Jackson v. Virginia</u> standard.

set of penalty-phase jury instructions (23R 2252). Defense counsel acknowledged they "got everything" they wanted (23R 2252). After the jury instructions were delivered by the court, the court asked defense counsel if there were "any additions, corrections or objections to the instructions as read" (23R 2300). Defense counsel answered, "No, sir" (23R 2301).

Because Francis agreed to the instructions actually given without providing any alternative instructions, he has waived any claims he might have concerning the HAC instruction. McDonald v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S347, S348 (Fla. July 1, Furthermore, the standard HAC instruction given in this case is the same instruction this Court approved in Hall v. State, 614 So.2d 473, 478 (Fla. 1993) and found sufficient to overcome vaqueness challenges to both the instruction and the aggravator. Since that time, this Court has consistently rejected claims that either the or our present HAC jury instruction HAC aggravator constitutionally deficient. Nelson v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S250, 252 (Fla. May 27, 1999); Walker v. State, 707 So.2d 300, 316 (Fla. 1997); Chandler v. State, 702 So.2d 186, 201 (Fla. 1997). Thus Francis' complaints about the HAC aggravator and the jury instructions are both procedurally barred and meritless.

 $^{^{28}}$ It is also notable that *every* motion in limine filed by defense counsel as to prosecutorial argument was agreed to by the prosecutor (23R 2252).

Francis also argues that these murders were not heinous, atrocious or cruel. However, the "HAC aggravating circumstance has been consistently upheld where the victim was repeatedly stabbed." Guzman v. State, 721 So.2d 1155, 1159 (Fla. 1998). Accord, e.g., Brown v. State, 721 So.2d 274, 277 (Fla. 1998); Mahn v. State, 714 So.2d 391, 399 (Fla. 1998); <u>Atwater v. State</u>, 626 So.2d 1325, 1329 (Fla. 1993). Furthermore, Francis' argument that he may have lacked tortuous "intent" fails to help him. This Court consistently has held that: "Unlike the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravator, which pertains specifically to the state of mind, intent and motivation of the defendant, the HAC aggravator focuses on the means and manner in which the death is inflicted and the immediate circumstances surrounding the death." Brown, supra Accord, Guzman at 1160 ("The intention of the killer to inflict pain on the victim is not a necessary element of the aggravator"); Mahn at 399 (Mahn's contention that HAC did not apply because he did not deliberately inflict pain rejected).

Although Francis makes no argument on appeal relating to the consciousness of the victims, the State would note that, at the very minimum, the victims had to be alive for a few seconds—even if the most fatal of the wounds had been administered first. Although the lack of defensive wounds to Bernice Flegel do not necessarily mean that she was unconscious during her attack, Claire Brunt's defensive wounds do mean that she had to be conscious

during her attack. Furthermore, Francis could not have killed both women instantaneously. Finally, stabbing killings by their nature heinous, atrocious and cruel. Thus, this Court affirmed HAC in Taylor v. State, 630 So.2d 1038, 1043 (Fla. 1993), where the victim had been stabbed 20 times and beaten, even though the medical examiner could not say "whether the victim was conscious during all or any part of the attack." Id. at 1039.

The HAC aggravator was found properly in this case.

ISSUE VIII

THAT CONTEMPORANEOUSLY TO THE MURDERS FRANCIS COMMITTED ROBBERY IS A VALID STATUTORY AGGRAVATOR AND WAS PROPERLY FOUND IN THIS CASE

In his eighth enumerated error, Francis contends the trial court erred in finding as an aggravated circumstance that the murders of Bernice Flegel and Claire Brunt were committed while the defendant was engaged in the commission of robbery. Francis argues that this statutory aggravator is unconstitutional because it is an "automatic" aggravator. This claim has been repeatedly rejected by this Court. E.g., Hudson v. State, 708 So.2d 256, 262 (Fla. 1998); Blanco v. State, 706 So.2d 7, 11 (Fla. 1997). As noted in Blanco, the "list of enumerated felonies in the provision defining felony murder is larger than list of enumerated felonies in the provision defining the aggravating circumstance of commission during the course of an enumerated felony."

Moreover, this case is not, as Francis contends, a "felony murder." Francis premeditatedly murdered two elderly woman for the purpose of robbing them. By murdering these two women, who knew and could identify him, Francis eliminated them as witnesses and furthered the chances of a successful robbery. It was a cold blooded killing for monetary gain. The contemporaneous commission of robbery is a strong aggravator in this case, not a "weak" one as Francis contends.

ISSUE IX

THE PRIOR VIOLENT FELONY AGGRAVATOR IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL FOR ANY REASON ALLEGED, AND WAS PROPERLY FOUND IN THIS CASE

Although, as noted above, Francis interposed no objection at trial to the jury instruction as to the prior violent felony aggravator, he contends on appeal that this aggravator is unconstitutional, primarily because it may apply, as here, to a contemporaneously committed second murder for which there was no conviction at the time the first murder was committed. Francis concedes this Court has consistently upheld the use of this aggravator as to a contemporaneously committed crime committed against a different victim, so long as there has been a conviction for the "prior" crime at the time of the death sentencing. See, e.g., Banks v. State, 700 So.2d 363, 365 (fn. 3) (Fla. 1997); Correll v. State, 523 So.2d 562, 568 (Fla. 1988); King v. State,

390 So.2d 315, 320 (Fla. 1980); <u>Elledge v. State</u>, 346 So.2d 998 (Fla. 1977).

Francis' argument that this aggravator, so interpreted, fails to narrow the class of persons eligible for a death sentence and is "wholly unrelated to the blameworthiness of the particular defendant" approaches sheer nonsense. The aggravator applies in this case because Francis murdered two people. The aggravator obviously narrows the class of persons eligible for a death sentence, because only a relative handful of murderers murder more than one person. Furthermore, common sense tells us that if murdering one person is bad, murdering two people is worse and merits a more severe sentence. There is no error here.

ISSUE X

THE PECUNIARY GAIN AGGRAVATOR IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL FOR ANY REASON ALLEGED; MOREOVER, IN THIS CASE IT MERGED INTO THE CONTEMPORANEOUS ROBBERY AGGRAVATOR AND WAS NOT FOUND TO BE AN ADDITIONAL AGGRAVATOR

Here, Francis complains about the pecuniary gain aggravator and the jury instructions as to that aggravator. As noted above, Francis' trial counsel agreed to the jury instructions en toto. Therefore, his complaint about the jury instructions is not preserved. The complaint about the aggravator itself seems to be primarily that it "repeat[s]" other aggravators, presumably in this case the contemporaneous commission of robbery. In this case, however, any possible doubling was avoided (by agreement of the

parties) by instructing the jury only on pecuniary gain and not the contemporaneous commission of robbery. Thus, these two factors could not have been erroneously "doubled" by the jury.

It is proper to find the pecuniary gain aggravator where the defendant has robbed the murder victim. <u>Larkins v. State</u>, 655 So.2d 95, 100 (Fla. 1995); <u>Toole v. State</u>, 479 So.2d 731 733 (Fla. 1985). Moreover, the trial court merged this aggravator into the robbery aggravator, treating them as one aggravating factor, as required by <u>Castro v. State</u>, 597 So.2d 259 (Fla. 1992). There is no error here.

ISSUE XI

THERE WAS NO ERROR IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO CROSS-EXAMINE DEFENSE WITNESSES ABOUT SANITY AND COMPETENCE WHERE BOTH WITNESSES HAD BEEN QUESTIONED ABOUT THE SAME SUBJECT ON DIRECT AND THERE WAS NO OBJECTIONS TO FURTHER QUESTIONING ON THE SAME SUBJECT ON CROSS; SINCE THE TRIAL COURT FOUND A STATUTORY MENTAL MITIGATOR NOT EVEN URGED BY THE DEFENDANT, IT IS DIFFICULT TO SEE HOW THE TRIAL COURT COULD BE SAID TO HAVE DIMINISHED THE IMPORTANCE OF THE MENTAL HEALTH TESTIMONY

Francis argues here (without any citation to the transcript) that the state cross-examined Dr. Perry and Ms. Hession about "the insanity defense and the defendant's competency." Francis also contends that this cross-examination fell outside the scope of direct examination and was improper.

The State must disagree with the contention that it would be inappropriate to ask a defense mental health witness about the

defendant's sanity and competence at the penalty phase even if the defendant had not first addressed these matters on direct. Although obviously a conclusion that the defendant is sane and competent does not preclude a finding of mental mitigation, nevertheless, where the defendant claims mental mitigation, the jury is entitled to know the nature and extent of the defendant's mental illnesses, if any, and the state should be allowed to delineate the precise contours of the defendant's mental condition on cross-examination.

In general, cross-examination extends to the "entire subject matter" of the direct examination, including "all matters that may modify, supplement, contradict, rebut or make clearer the facts testified to" on direct. Embrey v. Southern Gas & Electric Corp., 63 So.2d 258, 262-63 (Fla. 1953). "[Q]uestions which are intended to fill up designed or accidental omissions of the witness, or to call out facts tending to contradict, explain or modify some inference which might otherwise be drawn from his testimony, are legitimate cross examination." McCrae v. State, 395 So.2d 1145, 1152 (Fla. 1980). Although sanity and competence are not controlling as to mitigation, neither are they irrelevant to any analysis of the defendant's mental condition. See, e.g, Shellito v. State, 701 So.2d 837, 844 (fn. 4) (Fla. 1997) (that defendant showed no signs of psychosis was relevant to evaluation of his mental condition).

Moreover, in this case, the question of Francis' competence and sanity were raised in the first instance by defense counsel, who asked both mental health witnesses on direct examination if Francis were sane and competent (23R 2192-93, 2242-43). Thus, the State's questions on this subject (which were almost as brief as defense counsel's), were quite plainly not outside the scope of direct examination. Furthermore, and most importantly, defense counsel did not object to the state's questioning.²⁹ Therefore, any issue of the state's cross-examination in this regard is not preserved for appeal.

Francis also argues that the trial court confused mitigation with insanity and incompetence in its sentencing order and, as a consequence, "diminished" the importance of the mental mitigation in its sentencing. It should be noted that the portion of the sentencing order on which Francis quotes here is the trial court's finding of a statutory mitigator which Francis' trial counsel did not even contend for. See 6R 928-53 (Defendant's sentencing memorandum). In addition, neither of his mental health witnesses testified that either statutory mental mitigator applied. Thus, the trial court found as a statutory mental mitigator that "The capital felony was committed while the defendant was under the

²⁹ Although Francis does not provide a record citation to the supposedly offending portion of the cross-examination, a review of the transcript shows that defense counsel interposed no objection whatever to *any* portion of the state's cross-examination of either Dr. Perry or Ms. Hession.

influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance," (8R 1318), even though, as the court recognized, this mitigator was "not raised by the defendant" (8R 1318), and certainly not compelled by the defense testimony. That the court found a statutory mental mitigator not even raised by the defendant and gave it "some weight" certainly tends to refute Francis' claim on appeal that the trial court's confusion about sanity and competence caused the court to "diminish the importance" of mental health mitigation. Initial Brief of Appellant at 87.

Moreover, it was neither inappropriate nor a sign of confusion for the trial court to have noted in its sentencing order that the defense experts believed that Francis "could at all times distinguish between right and wrong," or to note that it "has not been shown that the defendant was under any particular acute distress at the time of the killings," or to note that he was "capable of planning and executing the crimes, as well as . . . covering up his misdeeds afterward" (8R 1318).

Francis fails to mention that the trial court also found Francis' proposed nonstatutory mitigator that he was mentally ill or emotionally disturbed and gave this factor considerable weight (8R 1318-19). The record simply does not support Francis' contention on appeal that the trial court diminished the weight of the proposed mental health mitigation due to a misunderstanding of the law. No error appears here.

ISSUE XII

THE VICTIMS IN THIS CASE WERE 66 YEARS OLD AND CLEARLY WERE VULNERABLE DUE TO ADVANCED AGE; BECAUSE FRANCIS AGREED TO THE JURY INSTRUCTION THIS AGGRAVATOR AND BECAUSE AGGRAVATOR CLEARLY APPLIES TO HIM, HE MAY NOT CHALLENGE IT FOR VAGUENESS; FURTHERMORE, THE AGGRAVATOR GIVES SUFFICIENT GUIDANCE TO THE NOT SENTENCER EVEN ΤF SUSCEPTIBLE OF MATHEMATICAL PRECISION

The jury was instructed on, and the trial court found as a statutory aggravating circumstance, that the "victim[s] of the capital felonies in this case were particularly vulnerable due to advanced age or disability" (23R 2293, 8R 1317-18). See § 921.141 (5) (m) Fla. Stat. 1999. In its written order, the trial court explained:

The evidence established that the twin sisters were 66 years of age. They appeared to be in reasonable health for their age. No particular disability was shown. The legislature has clearly shown that it considers advanced age a special circumstance worthy of consideration in a capital sentencing. Both victims were clearly in this protected class and this factor was proved beyond a reasonable doubt.

(8R 1317-18).

Francis contends that this aggravator is unconstitutional. Although the basis of his claim is not entirely clear, he seems to be arguing that it is unconstitutionally vague.

The State would note, first, that Francis does not complain about the jury instruction as to this aggravator, nor could he, since, as noted above, his trial counsel agreed to the penalty-

phase jury instructions. Thus, any issue of the necessity for any kind of limiting instruction has not been preserved for review.

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